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 Law Office, PLLC 

4802 E Ray Road, #23-271 
Phoenix, AZ 85044 
Tel.: (480) 264-1400 
Fax: (480) 248-3196 

com  
 
Attorney for Petitioner 

  
 

MARICOPA COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT 

STATE OF ARIZONA 
 

In Re Matter of: 
 

  
 
 Petitioner, 
 
And 
 
CLAYTON ECHARD, 
 
 Respondent. 

Case No: FC2023-052114 
 
PETITIONER’S RESPONSE TO  
RESPONDENT’S AMENDED MOTION 
FOR RELIEF BASED ON FRAUD 
 
(Assigned to Hon. Julie Mata) 
 

               

Petitioner   (“Ms.  or “Petitioner”) respectfully submits the 

following Response to Respondent Clayton Echard’s (“Mr. Echard” or “Respondent”) 

Amended Motion for Relief From Judgment Based on Fraud. 

As explained below, there has been no fraud of any kind in this proceeding. YES, 

Ms.  made some misstatements along the way, including misstatements to third 

parties, and at least one minor misstatement to the Court (in the order of protection 

proceeding). As explained below, none of those misstatements affected the outcome of 

the order of protection proceeding, nor do they have any effect on the paternity 

proceeding (except, of course, to the extent they bear on Ms.  overall credibility). 

 As will eventually become clear once all the facts are known, even accepting the 

problems with Ms.  credibility, there is objective medical proof Ms.  was, 

in fact, pregnant, and she believed (with good reason) that Mr. Echard was the father. 
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Thus, even accepting other unfortunate but unrelated problems with credibility, Ms. 

 had a valid good faith basis to commence the paternity proceeding against Mr. 

Echard, and she also had a valid good faith basis to seek a protective order based on Mr. 

Echard’s abusive and harassing conduct. 

 For these reasons, the protective order previously entered on October 26, 2023 in 

FC2023-052771 had a valid factual and legal basis, and there are no grounds to change 

that decision. Accordingly, Mr. Echard’s motion should be denied, and Ms.  

should be awarded her reasonable attorney’s fees incurred in preparing this response 

pursuant to A.R.S. § 25-324. 

I. PROCEDRUAL PREFACE 

 The posture of the current pleading is somewhat confusing, so in an abundance of 

caution, this Response begins with a short comment to remove any potential 

misunderstanding. First, on March 26, 2024, Mr. Echard filed a Motion for Relief From 

Judgment Based on Fraud in FC2023-052771 (the OOP matter). That initial motion was 

never served (the certificate of service indicates it was emailed to Ms.  who was 

self-represented at that point and had not agreed to accept electronic service). 

 Undersigned counsel was retained to represent Ms.  first in the paternity 

matter (FC2023-052114), and later in the OOP case. Upon appearing in the OOP matter 

on April 9, 2024, undersigned counsel filed a notice explaining the previous pending 

motion (for relief based on fraud) had not been served on Ms.  and that no 

response was currently due for that reason. The issue of service was later resolved 

between counsel, and the undersigned had intended to file a timely response to the 

motion seeking relief based on fraud. 

 In the interim, Mr. Echard filed a motion seeking a “joint hearing” in FC2023-

052114 and FC2023-052771, which this Court granted via minute entry order issued 

April 26, 2024 (technically, the motion for joint hearing was never properly served either, 

but Ms.  had no objection to that request). Finally, on April 26, 2024, Mr. Echard 

filed pleading purporting to amended his prior motion for relief based on fraud, although 
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it appears the amendment was filed only in FC2023-052114 (the paternity case) and not 

FC2023-052771 (the OOP case). 

 With that slightly complicated posture in mind, this pleading is intended to 

represent Ms.  response to both the original motion seeking relief based on fraud 

filed in the OOP case, and the amended version of that motion just filed in the paternity 

case. Hope that makes sense. 

II. INTRODUCTION 

Because the order of protection case has been functionally consolidated with the 

paternity proceeding, a brief recap is in order. On October 6, 2023, Ms.  filed a 

short pro se petition asking for an order of protection against Mr. Echard.  

For her factual basis, the petition generally alleged Mr. Echard sent harassing and 

threatening messages to Ms.  expressing his “anger and hatred” towards her. Ms. 

 further claimed Mr. Echard published harassing and annoying messages about her 

online, and that he encouraged others to do so. Ms.  also argued Mr. Echard posted 

messages online sharing “private and confidential” information about her (and, again, he 

encouraged others to do so). Ms.  claimed these actions had caused her “extreme 

anxiety” and fear for her safety to such a degree that she was afraid to leave her own 

home. 

After an ex parte order was issued, a contested hearing was held on the petition on 

October 25, 2023 at which Ms.  and Mr. Echard both testified. Following the 

hearing, the Court found “by a preponderance of the evidence that there is reasonable 

cause to believe that Defendant has committed an act of domestic violence within the last 

year.” Minute Entry Order 10/25/2023 (filed 10/26/2023). 

Mr. Echard now seeks relief from this order….but only sort of. As a starting point, 

and as a recurring theme, Mr. Echard argues “Plaintiff was never pregnant by Defendant” 

(a point which was arguably litigated and resolved against him at the hearing). Mr. 

Echard then proceeds to cite a handful of various “fraudulent” things done by Ms. 

 including modifying a sonogram image, and lying about which doctors saw her. 
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 Taken as a whole, Mr. Echard’s motion seems to contain two main issues. First, 

he claims Ms.  was “never pregnant”. If true, that would potentially affect her 

statutory rights to seek relief under the Order of Protection statutes, A.R.S. §§ 13–3601 

and 13–3602.  

Second, Mr. Echard claims Ms.  lied about things such as the authenticity of 

a sonogram image and other aspects of her pregnancy. In the narrow context of an OOP 

proceeding, it appears Mr. Echard is attempting to raise those issues to show that if he 

published a medical record online which did not belong to Ms.  that means he did 

not engage in the type of conduct that would support the order of protection entered here. 

As explained below, none of these arguments are well-taken. The order of 

protection was properly and lawfully issued, and no grounds exist to vacate or modify it. 

As such, Mr. Echard’s motion should be denied, and Ms.  should be awarded her 

reasonable attorney’s fees incurred in preparing this response. 

III. DISCUSSION 

Arizona has many different laws permitting orders against harassment, threats, and 

other types of offensive conduct. The two main laws are A.R.S. § 12–1809 (permitting 

injunctions against harassment) and A.R.S. § 13–3602 (allowing orders of protection “for 

the purpose of restraining a person from committing an act included in domestic 

violence.”) 

These orders/injunctions are typically focused on preventing unlawful conduct, but 

they also have the potential to impact certain constitutionally-protected activities 

including free speech. To ensure the right to engage in vibrant discourse is not unduly 

chilled, protective orders/injunctions are subject to strict procedural and technical 

requirements, including very specific statutory standards which are necessary to protect 

the First Amendment rights of litigants, while still providing relief for victims of 

harassing conduct. See, e.g., Streeter v. Visor, 2015 Ariz. App. Unpub. LEXIS 1451, *5 

(App. Div. 1 2015) (vacating injunction against harassment on First Amendment grounds, 

and noting “A restriction like this based on the content of speech is permissible only if 
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narrowly tailored to achieve a compelling state interest.”) (citing Perry Educ. Ass'n v. 

Perry Local Educators' Ass'n, 460 U.S. 37, 45 (1983)). Of course, Mr. Echard has not 

raised any sort of constitutional challenge to the order Ms.  obtained in this matter, 

so this Response will not explain why the order is constitutionally proper. 

With this backdrop in mind, to the extent Mr. Echard claims he is entitled to relief 

because Ms.  was “never pregnant”, this appears to be an attack on the Court’s 

statutory authority to grant any relief at all under the OOP statute. That attack is baseless, 

both legally and factually. 

a. Ms.  Was Legally Eligible For OOP Protection 

To begin, any party seeking an order of protection must show they are entitled to 

relief under the law. Unlike a harassment injunction under A.R.S. § 12–1809 (which may 

obtained by anyone, regardless of the relationship between the parties), orders of 

protection under A.R.S. § 13–3602 are limited in terms of eligibility. By definition, a 

party seeking an order of protection must show they fit within one or more of the 

categories described in A.R.S. § 13–3601(A) which include things like married couples 

(§ 3601(A)(1)), parents who share a child (§ 3601(A)(2)), and cases in which “The victim 

or the defendant is pregnant by the other party.” § 3601(A)(3). 

But the OOP law is not limited to only martial or filial/paternal relationships. 

A.R.S. § 13-3601(A)(6) allows relief in any case where “The relationship between the 

victim and the defendant is currently or was previously a romantic or sexual 

relationship.” (emphasis added). 

Here, fleeting as it was, there is no dispute Mr. Echard and Ms.  had a 

romantic relationship which involved some level of sexual conduct. Mr. Echard denies 

sexual intercourse, but Ms.  claims sex occurred, in addition to oral sex and other 

activities.  

Thus, even if Mr. Echard was correct and even if Ms.  was “never 

pregnant”, that point is entirely irrelevant to her right to seek relief under the OOP 

statute. A romantic or sexual relationship is sufficient, and here we have both.  
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For that reason, Ms.  did not obtain the order of protection by fraudulently 

claiming she was pregnant. Relief was still available under the law, even if Ms.  

was never pregnant at all, simply based on the brief romantic rendezvous. 

b. The Court Properly Found The Facts Supported Relief 

 Aside from Ms.  statutory entitlement to relief based on her relationship 

with Mr. Echard, Mr. Echard argues the order of protection was obtained by fraud 

because Ms.  was not factually entitled to the relief she sought. Again, Mr. 

Echard’s arguments are not well-taken. 

 As explained above, following a contested hearing, the court made a factual 

finding that Ms.  established “by a preponderance of the evidence that there is 

reasonable cause to believe that Defendant has committed an act of domestic violence 

within the last year.” Minute Entry Order 10/25/2023 (filed 10/26/2023). In evaluating 

that finding, it is critical to understand in the context of an order of protection hearing, the 

term “domestic violence” has a very specific legal definition: 
 
“Domestic violence” means any act that is a dangerous crime against 
children as defined in section 13-705 or an offense prescribed in section 13-
1102, 13-1103, 13-1104, 13-1105, 13-1201, 13-1202, 13-1203, 13-1204, 
13-1302, 13-1303, 13-1304, 13-1406, 13-1425, 13-1502, 13-1503, 13-1504, 
13-1602 or 13-2810, section 13-2904, subsection A, paragraph 1, 2, 3 or 6, 
section 13-2910, subsection A, paragraph 8 or 9, section 13-2915, 
subsection A, paragraph 3 or section 13-2916, 13-2921, 13-2921.01, 13-
2923, 13-3019, 13-3601.02 or 13-3623[.]        

A.R.S. § 13–3601(A). 

 This long list of numbers means little to non-lawyers, and probably nothing more 

to anyone else. The key to understand is this — the list includes an extremely broad range 

of conduct including completely unrelated acts like negligent homicide (A.R.S. § 13–

1102) and revenge porn (A.R.S. § 13–1425). The statutory definition of “domestic 

violence” also covers things like: “Recklessly parking any vehicle in such a manner as to 

deprive livestock of access to the only reasonably available water.” A.R.S. § 13–

1602(A)(4). Seriously, that meets the definition of “domestic violence”. 
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 Here, after the hearing, the court did not explain precisely which aspect of 

“domestic violence” was proved. But we can rule a few things out; it is undisputed Mr. 

Echard did not park his car in such a manner as to deprive livestock of access to water. 

Whew. Nothing worse than thirsty cows. 

 Instead, given the allegations in Ms.  petition, it is fairly clear the court’s 

finding was based on A.R.S. § 13–2904(A) (prohibiting disorderly conduct) and/or 

A.R.S. § 13–2916 (using electronic communications to terrify, intimidate, threaten or 

harass). Both in her petition and in her testimony at the hearing, Ms.  established 

Mr. Echard sent her threatening, harassing, and insulting messages, and in the ex parte 

order entered on October 6, 2023, the court clearly was focused on Mr. Echard’s online 

attacks and harassment (which were extensive and not limited to posting a single 

sonogram image): 

 

 

 

 

  

 Notably, in Mr. Echard’s motion for relief, he never even attempts to refute the 

allegations in Ms.  petition which address his harassing conduct toward Ms. 

 including messages he sent describing his rage, hatred, and fury towards her, as 

shown below here. 
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 This conduct, which has nothing to do with an “altered” sonogram, was sufficient, 

standing alone, to support a finding of actual or potential domestic violence within the 

unique statutory definition of the term. Mr. Echard does not challenge that point. As such, 

even assuming Ms.  was not truthful about other issues, the undisputed evidence 

supported the order entered here on that basis alone. 

i. Ms.  Was Pregnant 

 In his obsessive, never-ending quest to smear and defame Ms.  (just like 

Donald Trump did with writer E. Jean Carroll, to his later financial detriment), Mr. 

Echard claims Ms.  was “never pregnant”, that she “has provided no verifiable 

medical evidence to support her alleged twin pregnancy” and that “every obstetrician and 

gynecologist [Plaintiff claimed to have seen] has indicated they have “no records as she 

was never seen as a patient.” To be clear—each of these is a knowingly false statement 

which will result in a forthcoming motion for sanctions against Mr. Echard and his 

counsel. At some point, these constant lies must stop. 

 In the meantime, rather than pre-litigating the entire case in this pleading, Ms. 

 simply directs the Court’s attention to the expert report of Dr. Michael T. 

Medchill, submitted herewith. Dr. Medchill is a recently-retired Arizona OB/GYN with 

more than 30 years of experience in the field. His curriculum vitae reflects that in 

addition to his medical degree, Dr. Medchill also separately holds a Ph.D. in 

immunology/biology, a masters degree in microbiology, and a BA (magna cum laude) in 

biology. His work experience is even more impressive. 

 During his lengthy career as an OB/GYN in Arizona, Dr. Medchill served as the 

Chairman of the OB/GYN department at St. Joseph’s Hospital in Phoenix. Although not 

reflected in his CV or report, during his long career, Dr. Medchill personally delivered 

more than 22,000 children, likely more than any other physician in the State of Arizona. 

Prior to his recent retirement, Dr. Medchill was board certified by the National Board of 

Medical Examiners and the American Board of Obstetrics and Gynecology. His 

education, training, experience in the field are truly exceptional. 
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 In his report, Dr. Medchill explained he has reviewed Ms.  medical 

records (which are extensive, contrary to Mr. Echard’s claims), and other evidence 

including an affidavit from Ms.  describing her contact with Mr. Echard and her 

activities relating to the pregnancy. Based on his review, Dr. Medchill’s expert opinion 

is: “She was clearly pregnant with 99+% certainty based on five HCGs (from both 

urine and blood).” Report at Medchill0009, ¶ 6 (emphasis added). 

 Importantly, Dr. Medchill also directly refutes an extremely frustrating, 

inaccurate, and tired trope included in nearly every pleading filed by Mr. Echard, to wit: 

“Plaintiff [Ms.  was never pregnant by Defendant [Echard] as they did not 

have penetrative sexual intercourse.” Mot. at 2:10–11 (emphasis in original). On that 

point, Dr. Medchill explains human beings can and do become pregnant even without 

penetrative sexual intercourse, noting “I have heard that story many times”. 

 Dr. Medchill provides a fascinating discussion about a patient he treated named 

“Maria” who was confirmed to be pregnant despite claiming she never had intercourse. 

Dr. Medchill explained his physical exam verified she was pregnant, and her hymen was 

still intact (thus confirming she was, at least in the literal sense, a pregnant virgin): 
 
Would it be reasonable for Ms.  to assume she was pregnant based 
on the type of sexual contact she had and the lab test results she received? 
Yes. There was not a description of the foreplay and there was disputed 
testimony about the after play. It is well known that men are “like 
basketball players-they dribble before they shoot” which is why the 
withdrawal method has a much higher failure rate than most other methods 
of birth control. They also dribble after they shoot, so if he did put his penis 
in or near her vagina after orgasm, she could still get pregnant. The odds of 
getting pregnant obviously go down if semen is released just outside of the 
vagina but it is still possible. In fact, I had one patient who was clearly 
pregnant (ultrasound confirmed), she absolutely denied intercourse, 
denied even ever using tampons and stated that she was a virgin. I have 
heard that story many times. In this case, however, I was shocked at the 
time of her exam to see that her hymen was intact! That alone would be 
remarkable enough to remember her but her name was Maria and her due 
date was within a day or two of Christmas.       

Report at Medchill0009, ¶ 5 (emphasis added). 
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 With all due respect to the doctors, according to this bizarrely contrived 

definition, if a woman became pregnant and gave birth to a healthy child without ever 

having an ultrasound, Drs. Justicia-Linde and Deans would express the same opinion as 

they did with Ms.  – no “verifiable clinical pregnancy” according to their 

definition. In fact, by their definition, it is probably accurate to say undersigned counsel 

is not currently alive and writing this brief. 

 That level of gamesmanship speaks volumes about what is really going on here. 

But there is no need to speculate. The simple truth is this – Mr. Echard’s own experts 

do not support his contention that Ms.  was “never pregnant”. They don’t 

even try to claim this.  

 Instead, they simply created a bizarrely-specific definition of “clinical pregnancy” 

and then suggest they can’t conclusively determine whether Ms.  ever met that 

specific definition. Of course, the question of whether Ms.  had a “clinical 

pregnancy” or just a plain old regular one is not relevant.  

 As a matter of law, A.R.S. § 25–804 does not limit paternity proceedings to only 

“verifiable clinical pregnancy” under the definition created by Mr. Echard’s experts. And 

for the record—this issue is also irrelevant because Ms.  never claimed to have had 

a “clinical pregnancy” using the special definition created by Drs. Justicia-Linde and 

Deans. She just claimed she was pregnant, as Dr. Medchill confirms she was. Maybe 

someday Mr. Echard will stop falsely claiming Ms.  was “never pregnant”, but 

sadly not today. 

ii. The “Sonogram” Was Not Fraudulent 

 Another tired point raised by Mr. Echard is that Ms.  committed “fraud” 

because the order of protection was based on sonogram image that Ms.  has since 

admitted to altering. But this point does not in any way support the relief Mr. Echard asks 

for here. This is so for two reasons. 

 First and most importantly, the order of protection was issued in this matter based 

on evidence unrelated to the sonogram. Once again, throwing candor to the wind, Mr. 
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 Although this image is “fake” in the sense that Ms.  has never appeared on 

a Halloween costume package, Mr. Echard offered no evidence to show that Ms.  

created this image or that she was responsible for posting it online (given the 

embarrassing and insulting nature of the image, it stands to reason Ms.  had no 

reason to create this image or to share it online). Indeed, the whole point of Ms.  

seeking the order of protection was to provide relief from these types of attacks. 

 In short, Ms.  has admitted to modifying one sonogram image in a non-

material way — she testified in her deposition that she changed the name of the facility 

on the image to prevent Mr. Echard from knowing where it was done. Beyond that, Ms. 

 has always maintained that the ultrasound image itself was not fake, it depicted 

her body, and it was taken at Planned Parenthood during the pregnancy which gives rise 

to this case. Simply changing the name of the location where the sonogram was taken 

does not mean the remainder of the image is “fraudulent”.  

 It simply means Ms.  made a very dumb decision to alter the document in a 

way that, ultimately, only harms Ms.  case. But lying about the location where the 

image was created changes nothing about the fact that Ms.  was, indeed, pregnant. 

 Furthermore, Mr. Echard has also admitted to lying in this case (he lied to Ms. 

 about real estate agreements she asked him to prepare on her behalf). The fact that 

Mr. Echard has admitted lying to Ms.  does not mean he should automatically lose 

this case, anymore than the sonogram issue shows Ms.  should lose. Both parties 

in this case have acted stupidly at times. That is an unfortunate fact of life, and he who is 

without sin shall cast the first stone. 

 The bottom line is that Ms.  concedes she made a mistake here. As a result 

of that mistake, she cannot provide verification that her story about the sonogram is true, 

and she understands this is an issue that may affect her credibility. At the same time, it is 

important to note that even if the sonogram is completely ignored, there is still substantial 

other objective, verified proof to support her pregnancy claim. Because so much other 

proof exists, the sonogram becomes largely irrelevant (notably because the sonogram is 
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disputed, Dr. Medchill completely disregarded it in his report, yet he still concluded 

sufficient other evidence exists to support Ms.  pregnancy, with a high degree of 

medical certainty). 

IV. CONCLUSION 

 For all the reasons stated above, there is no basis for this Court to vacate the order 

of protection entered in this matter. Reasonable factual grounds existed to support the 

Court’s finding of actual or potential domestic violence, as that term is defined in A.R.S. 

13–3601, and Mr. Echard’s motion fails to show any basis for a different conclusion 

now.. 

 As such, Mr. Echard’s Amended Motion for Relief Based on Fraud should be 

denied in its entirety, and Ms.  should be awarded her reasonable attorney’s fees 

incurred in preparing this response pursuant to A.R.S. § 25–324. 

  

DATED April 26, 2024.     LAW OFFICE, PLLC 
 
   
  S.  

Attorney for Petitioner 
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 S.  #021097 
 Law Office, PLLC 

4802 E Ray Road, #23-271 
Phoenix, AZ 85044 
Tel.: (480) 264-1400 
Fax: (480) 248-3196 

com  
 
Attorney for Petitioner 

  
 

 

MARICOPA COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT 

STATE OF ARIZONA 

 
 

In Re Matter of: 
 

  
 
 Petitioner, 
 
And 
 
CLAYTON ECHARD, 
 
 Respondent. 

Case No: FC2023-052114 
 
PETITIONER’S EXPERT 
DISCLOSURE STATEMENT 
 
(Assigned to Hon. Julie Mata) 
 
 

               

 Pursuant to Ariz. R. Fam. L.P. 49(j) Petitioner   discloses the 

following information regarding expert witnesses. 

1. Dr. Michael T. Medchill, M.D.; , Cape Coral, FL, 33914; 

 

a. Dr. Medchill is a recently-retired OB/GYN who has provided an expert 

report on the subjects of obstetrics and gynecology as applied to his 

review of certain medical records in this matter. Dr. Medchill is being 

compensated at the rate of $500/hr. for his services including records 

review and trial testimony (if needed). To date, Dr. Medchill has been 

paid a total of $2,500.00. 
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b. Dr. Medchill’s curriculum vitae reflecting his qualifications and 

publications is attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

c. The substance and facts of Dr. Medchill’s opinions are contained in a 

written report attached hereto as Exhibit B. 

d. The materials reviewed by Dr. Medchill in forming the grounds for his 

opinion are attached hereto as Exhibit C. 

e. The reference materials cited in Dr. Medchill’s report are attached 

hereto as Exhibit D. 

 

DATED April 22, 2024.     LAW OFFICE, PLLC 
 
   
  S.  

Attorney for Petitioner 
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Original emailed April 22, 2024 to: 
 
Gregg R. Woodnick, Esq. 
Isabel Ranney, Esq. 
Woodnick Law, PLLC 
1747 E. Morten Avenue, Suite 505 
Phoenix, AZ 85020 
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Exhibit A 



Michael Tom Medchill M.D. 

 

Cape Coral, FL 33914

 

 

 

EDUCATION 

Undergraduate: 

1969-- Associate Arts (A.A) Chemistry  

Mesa Community College  

1972-- Bachelor Arts (B.A.)  Biology  

Mankato State University 

Magna Cum Laude 

Graduate: 

1974-- Master Arts (M.A.)  Microbiology  

Mankato State University  

1974-76--PhD Candidate Immunology/Microbiology 

University of Arizona   

Medical School: 

1985-- Doctor of Medicine (M.D.) 

Medical College of Wisconsin  

Internship: 

1986--Maricopa Medical Center  

Residency: 

1989--Phoenix Integrated Residency in OB/GYN 
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PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE 

1989-1992   Group Practice Marshfield Clinic 

 Helped develop the Laproscopic Cholecystectomy program – Chippewa Falls 

 Started Gynecologic Laser program at Marshfield Clinic—Chippewa Falls 

1992-2001   Faculty -- Medical Director Department of Reproductive Medicine 

 Phoenix Integrated Residency in OB/GYN 

1995-2001   Medical Director MOMobile 

 One of the Founders of the MOMobile  

2001-2018   Private Practice – Phoenix, AZ   

 Helped develop the Cord Blood Banking Program at St Joseph Hospital 

 

HOSPITAL MEMBERSHIP 

St. Joseph Hospital – Chippewa Falls, WI 

Chairman Dept. of OB/GYN 90-92 

Active Staff 1989-1992 

St. Joseph Hospital—Marshfield, WI 

 Active Staff 1989-1992 

Luther Hospital—Eau Claire, WI 

Active Staff 1989-1992 

Victory Memorial Hospital – Stanley, WI 

Active Staff 1989-1992 

 

St. Joseph Hospital – Phoenix, AZ 

Chairman Dept of OB/GYN 2000-2003  

Vice Chairman Dept of OB/GYN 1998-2000, 2004-2005 

Active Staff 1992-2018 

Maricopa Medical Center—Phoenix, AZ 

Active Staff 192-1994 
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Banner Good Samaritan Hospital--Phoenix, AZ 

Active Staff 2004-2018 

 

LICENSURES and BOARD CERTIFICATIONS 

1989-2015 State of Wisconsin Medical License 

1992-2022 State of Arizona Medical License 

 

1985 National Board of Medical Examiners 

1991-2019 American Board of Obstetrics and Gynecology 

 

 

HONORS AND AWARDS 

2000-- TOP DOCS –Phoenix Magazine 

1998--Philosophy in Action Award --St Joseph Hospital  

1997--TOP DOCS –Phoenix Magazine 

1997-- Philosophy in Action Award --St Joseph Hospital  

1996--St. Joseph Hospital OB/GYN Teacher of the Year  

1994--St. Joseph Hospital OB/GYN Teacher of the Year  

1993--University of Arizona Deans Teaching Scholar  

1974--Mankato State University Biology Student of the Year 

 

PROFESSIONAL SOCIETIES 

1991-2010--American College of Obstetrics and Gynecology 

1994-2008-- Phoenix Obstetrical and Gynecological Society 

Vice President 1998-1999 

President 2000-2001 

1999-2011-- Pacific Coast Obstetrical and Gynecological Society 

Caucus Chairman and Board of Directors 2005 
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PUBLICATIONS 

Identification and Partial Characterization of Hemaglutinins in the Wax Moth Galleria 
mellonella. Michael T. Medchill, Master’s Thesis on File at Mankato State University Library 
1974 

Diagnosis and Management of Tuberculosis during Pregnancy M.T. Medchill and M. Gillum. 
Obstetrical and Gynecological Survey 44: 81-84, 1989 

inv(12) (p11.2q13) in an Endometrial Polyp. T. Walter, S.X.Fan, M.T. Medchill, C.S. Berger, 
H.H. Decker and A.A. Sandberg. Cancer, Genetics Cytogen 41: 99-103, 1989 

Cesarean Section Prophylaxis: A Comparison of Cefamandole and Cefazolin by both the IV and 
Lavage Routes, and the risk factors Associated with Endometritis. C.M. 
Peterson, M.T. Medchill, D.S. Gordon, H.L. Chard. Obstetrics and Gynecology 75: 179-182, 
1990 

Cytogenetic Findings in Nine Leiomyomas of the Uterus. S.X. Fan, C. Sreekantaiah, C.S.Berger, 
M.T. Medchill, S. Pedron, A. A. Sandberg. Cancer, Genetics, Cytogenetics 47: 179-189, 1990 

Prediction of Estimated Fetal Weight in Extremely Low Birthweight Neonates (500-1000 
grams). M.T. Medchill, C.M. Peterson, C. Krenic, J. Garbaciak. Obstetrics and Gynecology 78: 
286-90, 1991 

Cluster of Trisomy 12 tumors of the female genitourinary tract. M. Kiechle-Schwartz, A. 
Pfleidereer, C. Sreekantaiah, C.S. Berger, M.T. Medchill, A.A. Sandberg. Cancer Genetics 
Cytogenetics 54(2): 273-5, 1991 

Nonrandom Cytogenetic Changes in Leiomyomas of the Female Genitourinary Tract. A Report 
of 35 Cases. M. Kiechle-Schwartz, C. Sreekantaiah, C.S. Berger, S. Pedron, M.T. Medchill, U. 
Surti, A.A. Sandberg. Cancer, Genetics Cytogenetics 53(1): 125-136, 1991 

Diagnosis and Treatment of Giardiasis in Pregnancy. Michael Medchill. Clinical Advances in 
the treatment of Infection. 5(6): 6-7, 1991 

B-Lactamase Mediated Antibiotic Resistance. Michael T. Medchill. Clinical Advances in the 
Treatment of Infection. 6(6): 4-5, 1992 

Aspects and Treatment of Episiotomy Infections. Michael T. Medchill. Clinical Advances in the 
Treatment of Infection. 6(5): 13-16, 1992 

Cytogenetic Studies in Endometriosis Tissue. A. Dangel, M.T. Medchill, G. Davis, A. Meloni, 
A.A. Sandberg. Cancer, Genetics Cytogenetics 78(2): 172-4, 1994 
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Changes in mRNA and Protein Levels of the Cyclin Dependent Kinase Inhibitor p27KIP, During 
the Growth and Development of Adult and Cord Blood Human Hematopoietic Progenitor Cells. 
X. Ruiline, E. Firpo, M. Medchill, Jo-Anna Reems. Experimental Hematology 1998 

Prenatal. Purified Protein Derivative Skin Testing in a Teaching Clinic with a Large Hispanic 
Population. M.T. Medchill. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1999 Jun; 180(6): 1579-1983 

Cord blood cells that retain a CD34+phenotype after ex vivo expansion have reduced 
engraftment potential relative to unmanipulated CD34+cells. R. Xu, M Medchill, Y. Chang, Jo-
Anna Reems. Experimental Hematology 27. 

Serum Supplement, Inoculum Cell Density and Accessory Cell Effects are Dependent upon the 
Cytokine Combination Selected to Expand Human Hematopoietic Cells ex vivo. R. Xu, M. 
Medchill, J.A. Reams. Transfusion 2000 Nov; 40(11):1299-307 
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1. Did Ms.  good reason to believe she was pregnant on August 1, 2023? 
 
Intimacy of some type occurred on 5/20/23 
 
A faint positive urine HCG was noted on 5/31/23. Home pregnancy tests are usually 
positive by 14 days after conception. Depending on the quality of the test, a little sooner. 
The fact that the test was faintly positive at 11 days shows good correlation. With a twin 
pregnancy, HCG levels may rise a little faster and be detectable by a urine pregnancy test 
(UPT) a little sooner. These tests are approximately 99% accurate. (How Early Can You 
Detect Pregnancy? (clevelandclinic.org) 
 
She had a positive urine HCG at Banner Clinic on 6/1/2023. Therefore, she had a 
medically performed test which collaborated her home pregnancy test. 

 

On 7/23/23, she passed “two small fleshy objects” vaginally. This may have been just 
some blood and cervical mucus. It may have been one fetus passing. It may have been 
two fetuses passing.Pathology testing was not done on the material, so a precise answer is 
not possible. 
 
Having passed some material Ms.  logically would want to know if she was still 
pregnant. She did two more pregnancy tests on 7/25/23 and 8/1/2023. Both were positive. 
A reasonable person without more sophisticated testing (ultrasound)would reasonably 
think that not only was she proven to be pregnant on 5/31 and 6/1 but that she was still 
pregnant on 8/1/2023. 
 
The fact that her quantitative HCG was still 102 (positive) on 10/16/2023, documents that 
a pregnancy did exist on 5 different occasions. A quantitative HCG indicates not only if 
one is pregnant but how pregnant. A level of 102, this far into pregnancy would indicate 
that there was a pregnancy at some point in time but it was no longer viable or living. In 
fact, it would indicate that it had been nonviable for some time. 
 
 
Early pregnancy loss is defined as a nonviable, intrauterine pregnancy with either an 
empty gestational sac or a gestational sac containing an embryo or fetus without fetal 
cardiac activity within the first 13 weeks of gestation. With expectant management, 80% 
of early pregnancy losses will achieve complete expulsion within 8 weeks. Early Pregnancy 

Loss | ACOG(Number 200, November 2018). So, with early pregnancy losses, HCG levels 
do not return to “negative” for weeks and weeks.In fact, 20% don’t resolve within 8 
weeks. Dependingon how early the pregnancy loss occurred will determine if there is 
significant bleeding or not. In some early losses, the fetus/es and placenta/s get resorbed 
by the body with little or no bleeding at all. Small pieces of retained placenta attached to 
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the uterine wall will continue to produce small amounts of HCG until the tissue is 
expelled (bleeding) or resorbed. 
 
The continued HCG levels would result in the patient “feeling pregnant”. Additionally, 
Ms.  is known to have Polycystic Ovarian syndrome (PCOS) which may result in 
ovarian cysts, weight gain, breast tenderness and commonly bloating.However, PCOS 
does not cause false positive pregnancy tests. PCOS and Bloating — PCOS Awareness 
Association (pcosaa.org) 
 
On 11/14/2023 Ms.  HCG was negative. Clearly, Ms.  was pregnant, 
consistent with a conception date of 5/20/2023. She no longer had a viable pregnancy at 
some point. When the pregnancy became nonviable is impossible to determine but we 
know it happened before 10/16/2023.On that date, she had an HCG of only 102 when she 
would have been 21 weeks from conception.She was informed that this meant she 
probably had a nonviable pregnancy. 
 

2. Ms.  quantitative HCG of 102 on 10/16/2023, along with her multiple 
nonquantitative urine tests would indicate to any reasonable person, that she was 
pregnant. Coupled with the negative HCG test on 11/14, indicatesthat she was initially 
pregnant, followed by a typical pattern for an early spontaneous abortion (miscarriage) 
and once all the HCG producing tissue had been resorbed, the HCG returned to 
“negative”. 

 

3. Is the HCG verifiable medical evidence of pregnancy? In general, yes. With a certainty of 
greater than 99%.  
 

a. In rare situations, HCG may be elevated in patients with germ cell tumors. 
Clearly, we are not dealing with that.  

b. In other rare cases, HCG can be elevated following a pregnancy and a subsequent 
trophoblastic tumor. Again, we are not dealing with that in this situation.  

c. Approximately 1% false positive rate. The causes of these include user error 
(incorrect use of the test -evaporation lines) and use of an expired test. The 
likelihood of a false positive test on 5 separate occasionsmakes this possibility 
incredibly unlikely. Some medications have been implicated in giving false 
positive HCG tests.She was on the same types of medicationswhen her five HCG 
tests were positive and when the HCG was negative. Additionally, her HCG 
pattern followed a typical HCG pattern in which there was an early fetal loss 
followed by weeks and weeks of time passing before complete expulsion or 
resorption which was documented on 11/14/2023 with a negative test.   
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4. How reliable and accurate are home urine pregnancy tests. Approximately 99%. (How 
Early Can You Detect Pregnancy? (clevelandclinic.org) 

 

5. Would it be reasonable for Ms.  to assume she was pregnant based on the type of 
sexual contact she had and the lab test results she received? Yes. There was not a 
description of the foreplay and there was disputed testimony about the after play.It is well 
known that men are “like basketball players-they dribble before they shoot” which is why 
the withdrawal method has a muchhigher failure rate than most other methods of birth 
control. They also dribble after they shoot, so if he did put his penis in or near her vagina 
after orgasm, she could still get pregnant. The odds of getting pregnant obviously go 
down if semen is released just outside of the vagina but it is still possible. In fact, I had 
one patient who was clearly pregnant (ultrasound confirmed), she absolutely denied 
intercourse, denied even ever using tamponsand stated that she was a virgin. I have heard 
that story many times. In this case, however, I was shocked at the time of her exam to see 
that her hymen was intact! That alone would be remarkable enough to remember her but 
her name was Maria and her due date was within a day or two of Christmas. 
 

6. Is there any information in the records which are inconsistent with Ms.  being 
pregnant? 
No. She was clearly pregnant with 99+% certainty based on five HCGs (from both urine 
and blood). What we are not able to determine from the data is the exact time at which 
her pregnancy became nonviable.  
 

7. The timing of the SAB/miscarriage. Data are consistent that Ms.  did indeed get 
pregnanton 5/20/2023. Sometimes, the SAB is completed with heavy bleeding and 
passage of tissue. In these cases, the timing of the SAB is relatively precise. In other 
cases, the SAB is incomplete. The fetus dies or stops developing but there may or may 
not be bleeding for weeks. A completed SAB is when everything is expelled or 
reabsorbed. When this happens, the HCG will return to negative.  
 
In Ms.  case,the miscarriage or completed SAB was not technically completed 
until 11/14/2023 when everything was resorbed and her HCG was negative. 
 
So, even though Ms.  felt pregnant and the HCGs were positive, unbeknownst to 
her, the process had started many weeks earlier. The exact timing is unable to be 
determined by the data available. Abnormal pregnancies frequently have a slower growth 
rate than normal fetuses and frequently are small for gestational age (SGA) before they 
expire. So, for example a 9-week fetus may only measure about the size of a 7-8 week 
size fetus which is about the size of a kidney bean.A 7-week size fetus is just a little 
bigger than ½ inch.  Fetuses this size may simply get resorbed by the body or expelled 
with little blood loss.  
 

Medchill0009



It is possible that she passed one or both fetuses on 7/23/2023. Even if she did pass both, 
she still felt pregnant because of the positive HCG (pregnancy hormone) and possible 
PCOS symptoms which can cause weight gain, breast tenderness and bloating. This was 
confirmed in her mind by her continuing positive pregnancy tests, weight gain and 
protruding abdomen shown on pictures she took on 9/19/23 and 10/9/23. 
 
Finally, it is illogical to think she would request the Ravgen test in August and have it 
performed in late September if she didn’t think she was pregnant.Ravgen is a noninvasive 
prenatal test (NIPT) on maternal blood that detects fetal DNA.Based on the fact that this 
was likely an early pregnancy loss (before 12 weeks), the fetus/es expired before the 
Ravgen test. Therefore, it’s not a surprise that the test was inconclusive and showed “little 
to no fetal DNA in late September”.  
 
 

8. Ms.  is not required to file a death certificate. In Arizona, a death certificate is 
required if the gestational age, at the time of fetal death, occurs after 20 weeks estimated 
gestational age or weighs more than 350 grams (about ¾ pound). Clearly, the fetal death 
was before 20 weeks. As I have pointed out the fetal death occurred before 12 weeksand 
likely several weeks earlier. 

Medchill0010



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Exhibit C 

Medchill0011



Free Hand

Free Hand

Free Hand

Free Hand

Free Hand



Dr. Michael T. Medchill 
April 16, 2024 
Page 2 of 8   
 

I. BACKGROUND 
 
To recap the situation,  is currently involved in a pending paternity case in 

Maricopa County (which she filed, as the petitioner). Attached is an affidavit from  
that explains the basic facts and details of her story. Included with the affidavit are various 
medical records to support her story. 

 
For purposes of clarity —  affidavit does not cover every single aspect of the 

dispute between her and the father. As a matter of necessity and brevity, we have tried to 
only provide you with the key facts and details that bear on the questions we need your 
help understanding. 

 
 claims that on May 20, 2023 she had a brief (one night) sexual relationship 

with the putative father, Clayton Echard.  claims she and Mr. Echard had sex (briefly) 
and that she tested positive for pregnancy 11 days later. 

 
Ms.  claims she tried to speak with Mr. Echard about the matter, but he was 

extremely hostile and dismissive. He encouraged her to terminate the pregnancy, and he 
denied that he could be the father because he claims he did not actually have intercourse 
with Ms.  

 
Ms.  explored the option of abortion, but ultimately decided not to terminate 

the pregnancy. After making that decision, she filed the paternity action against Mr. Echard 
on August 1, 2023. That date is important because one of the key questions here is whether 

 had a good faith basis to think she was pregnant at the time the action was first filed. 
As long as  had a good faith basis to think she was pregnant, she should not face 
sanctions even if that belief was later proven to be incorrect. 

 
Under the law, people are generally allowed to bring cases without being 100% 

certain about the facts. A good faith mistake would typically not be sufficient grounds for a 
court to impose sanctions against a person in Ms.  position. So, while it would be 
helpful to know whether Ms.  was actually pregnant on August 1, 2023, the Court 
will also be looking at what she believed on that date, even if later events proved her belief 
was incorrect. 

 
II. SUMMARY OF FATHER’S POSITION 
 
As indicated in  affidavit, the putative father, Clayton Echard, claims it is 

impossible for him to be the father of  child, assuming she was ever pregnant. Mr. 
Echard claims this is impossible because he says he and  never had sexual 
intercourse. He also suggested  may have tried to “trap” him by transferring his 
semen from her mouth (following oral sex) to her vagina.  denies doing this. 
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Dr. Michael T. Medchill 
April 16, 2024 
Page 3 of 8   
 

Whether sexual intercourse did or did not occur is a disputed fact which you do not 
need to resolve. For the purposes of this review, you may simply assume the question of 
sexual intercourse is disputed and will be resolved by the Court at a later time. 

 
Also, it is probably worth noting Clayton’s attorney has made various arguments in 

support of his request for sanctions. These arguments are probably not directly relevant to 
your task, but they may be helpful for context. 

 
If you are interested in seeing those arguments, I have included a copy of a pleading 

entitled “Motion for Sanctions Pursuant to Rule 26” filed by Mr. Echard in the case on 
January 3, 2024. 

 
In this motion, Mr. Echard’s lawyer explains why he thinks  lied about being 

pregnant. The primary arguments seem to be: 
 

 HCG tests are not “verifiable medical evidence of pregnancy” 
 The Ravgen tests suggested “little to no fetal DNA was found”, implying that 

no fetal DNA was ever present 
 Clayton claims  wore a “fake moon bump” prosthetic during a video 

court appearance (  flatly denies this and she has provided photos 
showing her body during the dates in question which are included here) 

 
Incidentally, the Motion for Sanctions is no longer pending; it was withdraw for 

reasons that are not relevant to your task. 
 
III. QUESTIONS FOR EXPERT EVALUTION 

 
As you may recall from other matters, the rules of procedure generally require 

expert testimony to include certain specific things showing the expert is qualified to 
express an opinion on a given subject. In particular, Rule 49(j) of the Arizona Rules of 
Family Law Procedure requires the following: 

 
(j) Disclosure of Expert Witnesses. Each party must disclose the name, 
address and telephone number of any person the party expects to call as an 
expert witness at trial. The party also must disclose the subject matter on 
which the expert will testify, the substance of the facts and opinions on 
which the expert will testify, a summary of the grounds for each 
opinion, the expert's qualifications, and the name and address of any 
custodian of reports the expert prepared 
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Dr. Michael T. Medchill 
April 16, 2024 
Page 4 of 8   
 
 With that rule in mind, here are the specific questions we would like you to address 
in a short written report for the Court (the report should also include a summary of your 
qualifications, as outlined in the paragraph above): 

 
1.) Based on your review of Ms.  medical records and her affidavit 

explaining the facts and details of her interaction with Mr. Echard in May 
2023, is there a reasonable probability Ms.  was, in fact, pregnant at or 
around the time she filed the paternity action on August 1, 2023? 

 
2.) Keeping in mind that on August 1, 2023, Ms.  did not know what her 

HCG levels would be 10 weeks later in mid-October 2023, does the fact that 
Ms.  had a lab test on October 16, 2023 which showed HCG levels of 
104 demonstrate that Ms.  was never pregnant? 

 
3.) Mr. Echard has taken the position that an HCG test is not “verifiable medical 

evidence of pregnancy”. Do you agree or disagree with this statement? 
 

4.) How reliable and/or accurate are at home pregnancy tests? If a woman takes 
a test and receives a positive result, does that provide a reasonable basis for 
the woman to believe that she might be pregnant? 

 
5.) In your opinion, if a woman engaged in sexual activity of the sort described 

in Ms.  affidavit, and she had a positive home pregnancy test 11 days 
later, followed by a positive pregnancy test administered by a reputable 
health care facility such as Banner Health 12 days later, followed by another 
positive home pregnancy test a month after the sexual contact, followed by 
another positive home pregnancy test five weeks after the sexual contact, 
would it be reasonable for that woman to conclude she was probably 
pregnant? 

 
6.) Do the medical records attached to Ms.  affidavit contain any 

indication that she was not pregnant in or around August 2023? In other 
words, is there any information or evidence in the records which is clearly 
inconsistent with Ms.  being pregnant during this time period? 

 
7.) IMPORTANT NOTE—  belief has always been that she became 

pregnant on May 20, 2023 during the encounter with Mr. Echard, and that 
she miscarried some time after mid-October 2023. That belief was based on 
the numerous positive pregnancy tests she took between May 31 and October 
16. If the miscarriage occurred after or around mid-October, this would be 
around 21 weeks’ gestation. At that stage, it is my understanding the fetus 
would be approximately 10 inches in length, and a stillbirth or miscarriage 
would be obvious to the mother — she would clearly see an identifiable 
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fetus. But  has always maintained that she did not experience any 
obvious miscarriage signs after mid-October, nor did she ever see a 
discharged fetus. This odd situation has caused Clayton’s lawyer to question 
whether  was ever pregnant at all…simply because parts of the story do 
not make sense (such as the lack of an obvious, well-developed fetus, the low 
HCG levels on the October 16 test, and the finding from Ravgen in last 
September/early October that “little to no fetal DNA was present). 

 
This leads to a very important final question — is it possible that  
may have unknowingly miscarried on July 23, 2023, but continued to test 
positive for pregnancy several weeks afterwards? Again, her last positive 
pregnancy test was on October 16, 2023 which showed an HCG level of 104. 
Based on that,  previously believed her pregnancy may have continued 
all the way into October, but after viewing all the facts together, it appears 
her belief might have been mistaken. It seems entirely plausible that a 
miscarriage occurred on July 23, but  was unaware of this until months 
later. 
 
One of the other reasons Mr. Echard’s lawyer asserts the entire pregnancy 
was fake is because  claims she continued to show physical signs of 
pregnancy including a heavily swollen abdomen in September and October 
2023. Mr. Echard’s lawyer contends if  was still pregnant in that time 
period and had a miscarriage around 21-22 weeks, there MUST have been an 
obvious dead fetus and  should have been required to file a death 
certificate. 
 
Thus, the question is whether it is possible  miscarried on July 23, 
2023, did not realize it, and that her swollen abdomen was simply a 
result of post-miscarriage inflammation or something similar? This 
would explain why she did not pass a large ~10 inch stillborn fetus after mid-
October, because the fetus was passed on July 23 when she was less than 8 
weeks pregnant. 
 
Any insight you can offer into this would be greatly appreciated. 

 
When addressing these questions, please keep in mind expert testimony may be 

excluded if it fails to meet the “reliability” requirements of Rule 702 of the Rules of 
Evidence and case law interpreting those rules such as Daubert v. Merrell Dow 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 509 U.S. 579 (1993). In general, the Court will be interested in 
evaluating your opinions based on the following five factors: 

 
(1)  whether the expert's theory or technique can be or has been tested;  
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(2) whether the theory or technique has been subjected to peer review and 
publication;  

(3) whether the technique or theory is generally accepted within the relevant 
scientific community;  

(4) the known or potential rate of error of the technique or theory when applied; 
and  

(5) the existence and maintenance of standards controlling application of the 
technique. 

 
State ex rel. Montgomery v. Miller, 234 Ariz. 289, 299 (App. 2014) 

 
Of course, this does not mean you need to provide any lengthy peer-reviewed 

analysis to support your answers. But if you are aware of any studies or publications which 
support your opinions, it would be helpful if you could cite them where applicable. 

 
As I mentioned before, our trial in this matter is set for June 10, 2024, and the court 

has ordered both sides to complete their disclosures (including expert disclosures) no later 
than 30 days prior to trial; i.e., by May 10, 2024. 

 
Of course, if you have any questions or would like any other information about Ms. 
 Mr. Echard, or the case, please do not hesitate to ask and I will be happy to provide 

you with anything I can. My cell number is (480) 570-6157 and I am available to speak 
with you at any time. 
 

Very Truly Yours, 
 
 
 

    S.  Esq. 
 
cc: Client 
 
P.S. After this package of information was finalized,  realized that we failed to 
mention one additional detail—  states around 2014, she was diagnosed with PCOS—
polycystic ovary syndrome.  indicates that she has received care related to that 
condition, and attached on the follow pages are reports from a pelvic CT scan done by 
Southwest Medical Imaging in June 2022 – about one year prior to the events which give 
rise to this case.  indicates she has had problems with ovarian cysts from time to time, 
as this report appears confirm. 
 

 is not sure what impact the PCOS had, if any, on her pregnancy in this case, but she 
wanted to mention this just in case you found it relevant. 
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AFFIDAVIT OF   
 

1. My name is   If called to testify in court, I could and would testify 
to the following under penalty of perjury based on my own personal knowledge. 

2. I am 33 years old. My date of birth is May 14, 1990. I am not married and I do 
not have any children. I am 5’5” tall and currently weigh around 91 pounds. 

3. I currently reside in Scottsdale, Arizona with my parents. 

4. I am the Petitioner in the matter of   and Clayton Echard, 
Maricopa County Superior Court Case No. FC2023-052114. 

5. I first met Clayton Echard in May 2023 when I contacted him about purchasing 
some real estate investment properties. It is my understanding Clayton is a real estate 
agent, and I contacted him in that capacity via LinkedIn.com to inquire about some 
properties. 

6. In addition to discussing real estate, Clayton and I flirted with each other and I 
believed that he was interested in me either romantically or physically. The feeling was 
mutual. 

7. On May 20, 2023, after exchanging some flirty text messages, Clayton invited 
me to come over to his home in Scottsdale, which I did. Shortly after arriving that 
evening, Clayton offered me a THC (marijuana) edible “gummy”, which I accepted. 
Clayton also took at least one edible, and he appeared fairly “high” at the time. 

8. Clayton and I began kissing while seated on his couch. This eventually led to 
both of us removing all our clothing. I performed oral sex on Clayton, and he finished in 
my mouth which I later swallowed. During this time, I clearly told Clayton I did not want 
to have sexual intercourse with him. Despite this, at one point while on the couch, 
Clayton inserted his penis inside my vagina for a moment. It was clear to me this was not 
accidental on his part. In response, I pushed him away and removed his penis from my 
body. 

9. Although Clayton’s conduct might fit the technical definition of rape or sexual 
assault, I did not and do not want to accuse him of any crime, nor do I want him to be 
criminally prosecuted. 

10. After the session on the couch ended, Clayton and I went to his bedroom and 
slept for several hours. During the night, we woke up and became physical again, and I 
performed oral sex on him again until he climaxed in my mouth. After we were done, I 
swallowed the semen and then went to the bathroom. 
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23. After confirming I was pregnant, I contacted Clayton and tried to discuss the 
situation with him. I was not sexually active with any other men aside from Clayton 
around the time of conception, so I firmly believed he must be the father. 

24. Clayton was very dismissive and angry. He claimed it was “impossible” for me 
to be pregnant because he claimed we “never had sex” (even though we did, albeit only 
briefly). 

25. Clayton eventually agreed to meet with me on June 19, 2023 at his home. 
When I arrived around 7:45 PM, I brought the positive pregnancy tests to show Clayton. 
He still did not believe I was pregnant. 

26. Clayton then produced a home pregnancy test he had purchased, and he 
demanded I take the test in front of him (which meant peeing on a stick). I complied with 
his request and I took the test directly in front of him, with him watching. I understand 
Clayton has claimed that I would not allow him to watch me take the test, but that is false 
– he watched me directly the entire time. 

27. The test I took in front of Clayton also showed positive for pregnancy. Despite 
this Clayton continued to insist that I was not pregnant and that if I was, he was not the 
father. He later asked me to stop contacting him. 

28. On July 2, 2023, while traveling in southern California, I made an appointment 
with Planned Parenthood for the purpose of obtaining pills to medically terminate the 
pregnancy. At that time, Clayton had told me that he had no intention of being a father, 
and that if I decided to carry through with the pregnancy, he would have nothing to do 
with the child/children. Clayton’s attitude and horrible treatment caused me a great deal 
of stress and anxiety, and I was very close to making a decision to terminate the 
pregnancy. 

29. My mother drove me to the Planned Parenthood location on July 2, 2023, but 
she did not come into the facility with me. I went into the appointment alone, and I 
explained my situation to the care provider.  As part of my evaluation, the care provider 
at Planned Parenthood performed a sonogram on me and verified that I was, in fact, 
pregnant. 

30. I took a photo of the sonogram screen with my phone, but I did not want 
Clayton to know where I had gone for the appointment. To conceal that information, I 
modified the image to change the facility name from Planned Parenthood to SMIL 
(Scottsdale Medical Imaging), and I also changed the date from July 2, 2023 to July 7, 
2023. A copy of the modified sonogram image is shown below. 
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31. Other than changing the top part of the image to alter the facility name and 
date, I did not change any other part of the image. This image was taken at Planned 
Parenthood in California on July 2, 2023. I did not find this image online, and I did not 
take someone else’s image and pretend it was mine. I obviously regret doing this, but I 
made a mistake due to the amount of stress, anxiety and depression I was experiencing. 

32. Although I had not made a final decision about terminating the pregnancy, I 
wanted Planned Parenthood to give me the medication so I could take it home with me 
and have it available in case I made the decision to terminate. However, Planned 
Parenthood told me patients were not allowed to leave with abortion pills, so if I wanted 
to abort the pregnancy, I would have to take the pills while present in their office. 
Because of this, I left Planned Parenthood without any abortion medication.  
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35. At this time, I did not know if I had miscarried, so I immediately contacted a 
telehealth provider for guidance, as shown below. 
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36. Based on my discussions with the telehealth provider, it was unclear whether I 
had just miscarried, so I decided to wait several days and see if I had any further 
symptoms. A few days later (around July 25), I took another at home test which 
continued to show positive for pregnancy.  

37. Over the next week, I felt fine and did not experience any further bleeding or 
other symptoms. On August 1, 2023, I took another home pregnancy test, and that also 
showed a positive result. 

38. Based on my inability to communicate with Clayton about the pregnancy, I 
filed a paternity petition in court on August 1, 2023. At the time I filed the petition, I 
believed I was still pregnant and that Clayton was the father. 

39. Between August 1 and early October, 2023, I experienced weight gain, 
especially in my abdomen as shown in the photos below taken on Sept. 19, 2023 and 
October 9, 2023. 
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  MICHELLE Admin Sex: Female DOB: 05/14/1990

Continuity of Care Document

Summarization of Episode Note | 10/17/2023 to 10/17/2023

Source: Barrow Epilepsy

Created: 12/30/2023

Demographics

Contact Information:

11440 N 69 ST, SCOTTSDALE, AZ 85254, US

Tel: (415) 810-0604 (Work) 

Tel: (415) 810-0604 (Primary Home) 

Email: NOBODYTOLDMESHOW.COM 

Previous Address(es):

--

Marital Status: Unknown

Religion: Not Specified

Race: Multi Racial/Other

Previous Name(s): 

 

Ethnic Group: Not Hispanic or Latino

Language: English

ID: URN:CERNER:IDENTITY-FEDERATION:REALM:99FAC598-D72A-4299-90B8-DD712E6433B2:PRINCIPAL:71A1ED68-7DFA-

4721-95D4-BFE523C12738, 9489886, 9489886, 417D83E1-5BF0-4C7D-BE7A-0F5EB36B3FAB

Care Team

Type Name Represented Organization Address Phone

primary care physician PCP, None per patient -- -- --

Relationships

No Data to Display

Document Details

Source Contact Info

240 W Thomas RdSuite 403(602) 406-6686, Phoenix, AZ 85013- , US

Tel: (602)406-6262 

Author Contact Info

12/30/2023 3:24 PM 

Barrow Epilepsy

Recipient Contact Info

--

Healthcare Professionals

No Data to Display

IDs & Code Type Data

Document Type ID: 2.16.840.1.113883.1.3 : POCD_HD000040

Document Template ID: 2.16.840.1.113883.10.20.22.1.1 : --, 2.16.840.1.113883.10.20.22.1.1 : 2015-08-01, 2.16.840.1.113883.10.20.22.1.2 :

2015-08-01

Document ID: 2.16.840.1.113883.3.2828.7.43.999362 : 1277906541

Document Type Code: 2.16.840.1.113883.6.1, 34133-9
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Document Language Code: en-US

Document Set ID: --

Document Version Number: --

Primary Encounter

Encounter Information

Registration Date: 10/17/2023

Discharge Date: 10/17/2023

Visit ID: --

Location Information

Barrow Epilepsy

(Work): 240 W Thomas RdSuite 403, Phoenix, AZ 85013- , US

Providers

Type Name Address Phone

Attending Chen, Stephanie C FNP (Work): 240 W Thomas RdSuite 403, Phoenix, AZ 85013- , US Tel: (602)406-6262 (Work) 
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Encounter

AZSACLIN_FIN 51655557 Date(s): 10/17/23 - 10/17/23

Barrow Epilepsy 240 W Thomas Rd Suite 403 Phoenix, AZ 85013- US (602) 406-6262

Encounter Diagnosis

Epilepsy (Discharge Diagnosis) - 10/17/23

Pregnant (Discharge Diagnosis) - 10/17/23

Generalized epilepsy (Discharge Diagnosis) - 10/17/23

Traumatic brain injury (Discharge Diagnosis) - 10/17/23

Myoclonic jerking (Discharge Diagnosis) - 10/17/23

Discharge Disposition: Cerner Auto Discharge

Attending Physician: Chen, Stephanie C FNP

Author: Barrow Epilepsy

Last Modified: 10/25/2023 5:45 AM 

Reason for Visit

FU PREGNANCY;FU PREGNANCY

Allergies, Adverse Reactions, Alerts

No Known Medication Allergies

Author: Perez, Evelyn, Barrow Concussion & Brain Injury Center

Last Modified: 02/8/2023 9:58 PM 

Assessment and Plan

Extracted from:

Title: Office Visit Note: Neurology BNI Author: Chen, Stephanie C FNP Date: 10/17/23

Ms.   is a 33 year old female with a history of TBI, epilepsy, depression and ADHD (not

currently on ADHD meds during pregnancy) who is here to establish care with Epilepsy Clinic today.

She is currently 22 weeks pregnant with twins (boy/girl). We will check a lamotrigine level, no baseline

level available for comparison. Based off LTG level, we will adjust her LTG (if needed).

 

Her first seizure was in May 2017. She had 3 seizures in May 2017 which have not recurred since she

started lamotrigine. She was told she had generalized epilepsy in 2020 via a routine EEG with a

neurologist in San Francisco. We discussed how generalized epilepsies are usually not associated with

TBI and that focal epilepsies are usually more associated with TBI. We will repeat a EEG at BNI. Brain

MRI in May 2023 was normal.

 

She does have daily body jerks which she calls "myoclonic jerks" and symptoms she calls "vocal tics."

These have increased recently.

 

 

 

 

Today we discussed the following regarding pregnancy and epilepsy:

- Continue prenatal vitamin and folic acid 4 mg

- We recommended breastfeeding

- She will get monthly AED levels and we will follow-up by phone.

                

Chen,

Stephanie C

FNP

Barrow

Epilepsy

10/17/2023 9:02 PM 
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- Call us when she enters hospital to deliver so we can follow AED levels after delivery

 

Plan:

1. Continue lamotrigine ER 300 mg for now.

2. Check LTG level tomorrow and monthly after then. I will f/u via the portal with any LTG dose

adjustments.

3. Routine EEG ordered.

4. Continue PNV and folic acid. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5. AZ driving laws discussed- she is currently driving.

6. RTC in 2-3 mos, before she delivers. 

 

A total time of 62 minutes was spent for this patient's visit. 12 minutes were on the day of the patient's

visit reviewing past notes, interval notes, imaging, and labs. 35 minutes were spent with the patient

collecting history, consulting, and formulating a care plan. 15 min was spent documenting and

coordinating care after the visit. 

 

Informed Consent: The risks, benefits, and alternatives to the virtual/video visit were explained to the

patient and the patient consented to this modality of care. The telemedicine visit was performed via

real time synchronous video and audio, using Zoom Video Communications, with the originating site

at the patient's home and the distant site at Stephanie Chen's office. Verbal consent to participate in

video visit was obtained. No technical issues occurred during the call.  

 

I discussed with the patient the nature of our telemedicine visits, that:

* I would evaluate the patient and recommend diagnostics and treatments based on my assessment.

* Our sessions are not being recorded and that personal health information is protected.

* Our team would provide follow up care in person if/when the patient needs it.

Members of care team present at visit include: Stephanie Chen, NP

 

 

 

 

PATIENT LOCATION: Patient's residence

PROVIDER LOCATION: Provider's office

PATIENT INFORMED OF TREATING MEDICAL GROUP: Yes

VISIT TYPE: SECURED INTERACTIVE REAL TIME VIDEO

DATE OF SERVICE: 10/17/2023
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Future Appointments

Appointment Date: 02/19/2024 09:00:00 AM

Scheduled Provider: Zieman, Glynnis MD

Location: CL BR CB IC

Appointment Type: OPC Telehealth Visit PCA

Diagnostic Tests Pending

Lamotrigine Level-AMB 10/17/23

Lamotrigine Level-AMB 10/18/23

Lamotrigine Level-AMB 11/17/23

Lamotrigine Level-AMB 12/17/23

Lamotrigine Level-AMB 1/17/24

Future Scheduled Tests

Laboratory:

Lamotrigine Level-AMB 2/17/24
Author: Chen, Stephanie C FNP, CommonSpirit
Last Modified: 10/17/2023 8:42 PM 

Lamotrigine Level-AMB 3/17/24
Author: Chen, Stephanie C FNP, CommonSpirit
Last Modified: 10/17/2023 8:42 PM 

Lamotrigine Level-AMB 4/17/24
Author: Chen, Stephanie C FNP, CommonSpirit
Last Modified: 10/17/2023 8:42 PM 

Lamotrigine Level-AMB 5/17/24
Author: Chen, Stephanie C FNP, CommonSpirit
Last Modified: 10/17/2023 8:42 PM 

Lamotrigine Level-AMB 6/17/24
Author: Chen, Stephanie C FNP, CommonSpirit
Last Modified: 10/17/2023 8:42 PM 

Lamotrigine Level-AMB 7/17/24
Author: Chen, Stephanie C FNP, CommonSpirit
Last Modified: 10/17/2023 8:42 PM 
Radiology:

MR TMJ Uni or Bil 5/30/23
Author: Zieman, Glynnis MD, CommonSpirit
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Last Modified: 05/31/2023 5:45 AM 
Referral:

Referral to Physical Therapy 2/9/23
Author: Zieman, Glynnis MD, CommonSpirit
Last Modified: 02/9/2023 5:41 PM 

Referral to Psychiatric 2/9/23
Author: Zieman, Glynnis MD, CommonSpirit
Last Modified: 02/9/2023 5:41 PM 

Referral to Speech Therapy 2/9/23
Author: Zieman, Glynnis MD, CommonSpirit
Last Modified: 02/9/2023 5:41 PM 

Immunizations

No data available for this section

Medications

busPIRone (busPIRone 10 mg oral tablet)

Status: Ordered

Start Date: 11/29/23

1 tab(s) By mouth twice daily.

dextroamphetamine (dextroamphetamine 10 mg oral tablet)

Status: Ordered

Start Date: 2/8/23

TAKE 3 TABLETS BY MOUTH TWICE DAILY.

DULoxetine (DULoxetine 20 mg oral delayed release capsule)

Status: Ordered

Start Date: 11/29/23

2 pills daily for 1 week, then 1 pill daily for 1 week, then stop. Refills: 0.

Ordering provider: Zieman, Glynnis MD

CVS/pharmacy #9210

10653 N Scottsdale Rd Scottsdale, AZ

852545263

folic acid (folic acid 1 mg oral tablet)

Status: Ordered

Start Date: 11/29/23

1 tab(s) By mouth once daily. Refills: 5.

Ordering provider: Zieman, Glynnis MD

CVS/pharmacy #9210

10653 N Scottsdale Rd Scottsdale, AZ

852545263

lamoTRIgine (lamoTRIgine 100 mg oral tablet, extended release)

Status: Ordered

Start Date: 10/11/23

1 tab(s) By mouth once daily. take with 300mg ER tablet (total 400mg/day). Refills:

5.

Ordering provider: Zieman, Glynnis MD

CVS/pharmacy #9210

10653 N Scottsdale Rd Scottsdale, AZ

852545263

lamoTRIgine (lamoTRIgine 300 mg oral tablet, extended release)

Status: Ordered

Start Date: 10/11/23

1 tab(s) By mouth once daily. TAKE 1 TABLET BY MOUTH DAILY. Refills: 5.

Ordering provider: Zieman, Glynnis MD

CVS/pharmacy #9210

10653 N Scottsdale Rd Scottsdale, AZ

852545263
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sertraline (sertraline 25 mg oral tablet)

Status: Ordered

Start Date: 11/30/23

1 tab(s) By mouth once daily. Refills: 5.

Ordering provider: Zieman, Glynnis MD

CVS/pharmacy #9210

10653 N Scottsdale Rd Scottsdale, AZ

852545263

sertraline (sertraline 25 mg oral tablet)

Status: Ordered

Start Date: 11/29/23

1 tab(s) By mouth once daily. Refills: 3.

Ordering provider: Zieman, Glynnis MD

CVS/pharmacy #9210

10653 N Scottsdale Rd Scottsdale, AZ

852545263

Problem List

Condition Confirmation Course
Effective

Dates
Status

Health

Status
Informant Author Last Modified

ADHD - Attention deficit disorder

with hyperactivity

Confirmed Resolved Zieman,

Glynnis MD

Barrow

Concussion

& Brain

Injury

Center

02/9/2023 5:30 PM 

Depression Confirmed Resolved Zieman,

Glynnis MD

Barrow

Concussion

& Brain

Injury

Center

02/9/2023 5:30 PM 

Depression Confirmed Active Zieman,

Glynnis MD

Barrow

Concussion

& Brain

Injury

Center

02/9/2023 5:30 PM 

Domestic violence Confirmed Resolved Zieman,

Glynnis MD

Barrow

Concussion

& Brain

Injury

Center

02/9/2023 5:30 PM 

Epilepsy Confirmed Resolved Zieman,

Glynnis MD

Barrow

Concussion

& Brain

Injury

Center

02/9/2023 5:30 PM 
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History of domestic violence Confirmed Active Zieman,

Glynnis MD

Barrow

Concussion

& Brain

Injury

Center

02/9/2023 5:30 PM 

Condition Confirmation Course
Effective

Dates
Status

Health

Status
Informant Author Last Modified

Procedures

Procedure Date Related Diagnosis Body Site Status Author Last Modified

Endoscopy 1 Completed Zieman,

Glynnis MD

Barrow

Concussion

& Brain

Injury

Center

02/9/2023 5:30 PM 

Foot 2 Completed Zieman,

Glynnis MD

Barrow

Concussion

& Brain

Injury

Center

02/9/2023 5:30 PM 

Umbilical hernia Completed Zieman,

Glynnis MD

Barrow

Concussion

& Brain

Injury

Center

02/9/2023 5:30 PM 

1 2016

Author: Zieman, Glynnis MD, Barrow Concussion & Brain Injury Center

Last Modified: 02/9/2023 5:30 PM 

2 x2

Author: Zieman, Glynnis MD, Barrow Concussion & Brain Injury Center

Last Modified: 02/9/2023 5:30 PM 

Results

No data available for this section

Vital Signs

10/17/23
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Sensory Deficits None Dominguez,

Alina MA

Barrow

Epilepsy

10/17/2023 8:07 PM 

Social History

Social History Type Response Author Last Modified

Smoking Status Never (less than 100 in lifetime)

entered on: 10/17/23

Dominguez,

Alina MA

Barrow

Epilepsy

10/17/2023 8:05 PM 

Birth Sex CommonSpirit 12/28/2023 4:45 PM 

Goals

No data available for this section

Hospital Discharge Instructions

No data available for this section

Reason for Referral

No data available for this section

Health Concerns

No data available for this section

Implantable Device List

No data available for this section

Clinical Note

No data available for this section

Patient Care team information

Care Team Personnel

Author: CommonSpirit

Last Modified: 05/30/2023 3:58 PM 

Name: PCP, None per patient

Member Role: Lifetime Physician(PCP)

Author: CommonSpirit

Last Modified: 05/30/2023 3:58 PM 

Care Team Related Persons

Author: CommonSpirit

Last Modified: 05/30/2023 3:58 PM 

Name:  JAN

Author: CommonSpirit

Last Modified: 05/30/2023 5:28 PM 
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Family History

No data available for this section
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  MICHELLE Admin Sex: Female DOB: 05/14/1990

Continuity of Care Document

Summarization of Episode Note | 10/11/2023 to 10/11/2023

Source: Barrow Concussion & Brain Injury Center

Created: 12/30/2023

Demographics

Contact Information:

11440 N 69 ST, SCOTTSDALE, AZ 85254, US

Tel: (415) 810-0604 (Work) 

Tel: (415) 810-0604 (Primary Home) 

Email: NOBODYTOLDMESHOW.COM 

Previous Address(es):

--

Marital Status: Unknown

Religion: Not Specified

Race: Multi Racial/Other

Previous Name(s): 

 

Ethnic Group: Not Hispanic or Latino

Language: English

ID: URN:CERNER:IDENTITY-FEDERATION:REALM:99FAC598-D72A-4299-90B8-DD712E6433B2:PRINCIPAL:71A1ED68-7DFA-

4721-95D4-BFE523C12738, 9489886, 9489886, 417D83E1-5BF0-4C7D-BE7A-0F5EB36B3FAB

Care Team

Type Name Represented Organization Address Phone

primary care physician PCP, None per patient -- -- --

Relationships

No Data to Display

Document Details

Source Contact Info

222 W Thomas RdSuite 304(602) 406-3810, Phoenix, AZ 85013- , US

Tel: (602)406-4323 

Author Contact Info

12/30/2023 3:24 PM 

Barrow Concussion & Brain Injury Center

Recipient Contact Info

--

Healthcare Professionals

No Data to Display

IDs & Code Type Data

Document Type ID: 2.16.840.1.113883.1.3 : POCD_HD000040

Document Template ID: 2.16.840.1.113883.10.20.22.1.1 : --, 2.16.840.1.113883.10.20.22.1.1 : 2015-08-01, 2.16.840.1.113883.10.20.22.1.2 :

2015-08-01

Document ID: 2.16.840.1.113883.3.2828.7.40.999362 : 1277986955

Document Type Code: 2.16.840.1.113883.6.1, 34133-9
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Document Language Code: en-US

Document Set ID: --

Document Version Number: --

Primary Encounter

Encounter Information

Registration Date: 10/11/2023

Discharge Date: 10/11/2023

Visit ID: --

Location Information

Barrow Concussion & Brain Injury Center

(Work): 222 W Thomas RdSuite 304, Phoenix, AZ 85013- , US

Providers

Type Name Address Phone

Attending Zieman, Glynnis MD (Work): 222 W Thomas RdSuite 304, Phoenix, AZ 85013- , US Tel: (602)406-4323 (Work) 
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Encounter

AZSACLIN_FIN 49818786 Date(s): 10/11/23 - 10/11/23

Barrow Concussion & Brain Injury Center 222 W Thomas Rd Suite 304 Phoenix, AZ 85013- US (602) 406-4323

Encounter Diagnosis

Migraine (Discharge Diagnosis) - 10/11/23

Jaw pain (Discharge Diagnosis) - 10/11/23

Mood disorder as late effect of traumatic brain injury (Discharge Diagnosis) - 10/11/23

Epilepsy during pregnancy (Discharge Diagnosis) - 6/14/23

Late effect of traumatic injury to brain (Discharge Diagnosis) - 10/11/23

Discharge Disposition: Cerner Auto Discharge

Attending Physician: Zieman, Glynnis MD

Author: Barrow Concussion & Brain Injury Center

Last Modified: 10/19/2023 5:41 AM 

Reason for Visit

DV FU;DV FU

Allergies, Adverse Reactions, Alerts

No Known Medication Allergies

Author: Perez, Evelyn, Barrow Concussion & Brain Injury Center

Last Modified: 02/8/2023 9:58 PM 

Assessment and Plan

Extracted from:

Title: Brain Injury & Sports Neurology

Center - FU

Author: Zieman, Glynnis MD Date: 10/11/23

Radiologic Interpretation 

Outpatient EEG performed March 9, 2020 (St. Mary's Medical Center, San Francisco, CA) was abnormal

due to intermittent generalized sharp and slow wave discharges occurring in runs from 1-3 seconds.

 

MRI brain without contrast performed May 30, 2023 (SJHMC) was normal.

 

CT maxillofacial performed May 30, 2023 (SJHMC) revealed n

 

 

 o acute facial bone fracture. Asymmetric anterior orientation of the left mandibular condyle relative to

the glenoid fossa as well as mild leftward positioning of the maxilla relative to the mandible. Findings

are nonspecific may be positional versus related to soft tissue injury. MRI of the TMJ may be of benefit

to better assess for any discal or ligamentous injury. 

Zieman,

Glynnis MD

Barrow

Concussion

& Brain

Injury

Center

10/11/2023 5:54 PM 
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Assessment/Plan 

Epilepsy during pregnancy O99.350 

Epilepsy, unspecified, not intractable, without status epilepticus G40.909 

This is a 33 year old female with cognitive concerns, jaw pain, neck pain, as well a current worsened

mood symptoms after sustaining multiple mild traumatic brain injuries, as well as strangulation

injuries, due to domestic violence. She was also a victim of likely date rape and assault in

2022. Her symptoms are explained by these injuries and are persistent, which is expected, given her

psychiatric history, as well as the repeat and traumatic nature of her injuries. Fortunately, brain MRI is

normal. CT maxillofacial indicates some malpositioning/dislocation, which is somewhat expected,

given her history. She is currently 21 weeks pregnant with twins. She has not yet established with the

epilepsy clinic or with ENT. She continues to have jerks, and she has not yet done the EEG I previously

ordered. I will check her serum lamotrigine level and increase her lamotrigine to 400mg daily. I will have

her follow up with the epilepsy clinic. She remains on folic acid. She continues to have jaw pain, and she

is going to call ENT to follow up. I previously ordered an MRI of the TMJ, which has not yet been

completed. She is following with a trauma therapist. She has not started the propranolol I previously

ordered for her tremor and anxiety, but we will hold off on having her start it now. All questions

answered,  will return to clinic in 4 months. 

Zieman,

Glynnis MD

Barrow

Concussion

& Brain

Injury

Center

10/11/2023 5:54 PM 

Addendum

by Zieman,

Glynnis

MD on

October 11,

2023

10:53:20

MST

Case was discussed in detail with Dr. Kingsford and I interviewed the patient and confirmed appropriate

aspects of the physical examination today. I agree with the above documentation and plan of care. All

patient's questions answered. 

 

She will return to clinic in 4-6 weeks and I have contacted the BNI Epilepsy Clinic to get her scheduled for

consultation there ASAP. 

Future Appointments

Appointment Date: 02/19/2024 09:00:00 AM

Scheduled Provider: Zieman, Glynnis MD

Location: CL BR CB IC

Appointment Type: OPC Telehealth Visit PCA

Diagnostic Tests Pending

Lamotrigine Level-AMB 10/11/23

Future Scheduled Tests

Laboratory:

Lamotrigine Level-AMB 2/17/24
Author: Chen, Stephanie C FNP, CommonSpirit
Last Modified: 10/17/2023 8:42 PM 

Lamotrigine Level-AMB 3/17/24
Author: Chen, Stephanie C FNP, CommonSpirit
Last Modified: 10/17/2023 8:42 PM 

Lamotrigine Level-AMB 4/17/24
Author: Chen, Stephanie C FNP, CommonSpirit
Last Modified: 10/17/2023 8:42 PM 

Lamotrigine Level-AMB 5/17/24
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Report Status FINAL
Route 1006   Ordered by:
       Any Lab Test Now Scottsdale
       8989 E Via Linda
       Suite 111
       Scottsdale, AZ 85258
 

       Judy Hunter, MD
 

Patient Information:
 

Order #: 132885018873 / NL93226479
Account: 13288 Collected: 10/16/2023 DOB: 05/14/1990 Age: 33Y-5M-2D
ID/MR#: Received: 10/16/2023  09:02 PM     Sex: F  
Patient Lab ID:
64af465705918060c771d791 Reported: 10/17/2023  12:27 AM Patient Phone:
 
TEST RESULTS REFERENCE RANGES UNITS PL 

CHEMISTRY
hCG Quantitative 102  H ≤4 mIU/mL   
  hCG Reference Ranges:

Non-pregnant ovulating female:                <= 4 mIU/mL
Non-pregnant post menopausal female:    <=10 mIU/mL
Male:                                                      <= 2 mIU/mL

This hCG Electrochemiluminescent immunoassay was performed using Roche Elecsys reagents. 
This assay is a total beta subunit assay. It measures intact, nicked, free beta, and nicked free 
beta hCG. Rebaselining may be necessary when using another assay.

 

 
  
 
Tests Ordered:  hCG Quantitative
 
 
 

Values Outside of Reference Range
TEST RESULTS REFERENCE RANGES UNITS  
hCG Quantitative 102  H ≤4 mIU/mL   
Values listed above may not include all results considered abnormal for this patient (e.g., text-only results, such as those for some
pathology/cytology specimens, and results for analytes without established reference ranges will not appear). Always review the
entire patient report and correlate all results with the patient's clinical condition.
 
Unless otherwise noted, testing performed by: Sonora Quest Laboratories, 424 S 56th St, Phoenix, AZ 85034 800.766.6721

End of Report
 
 

  Order #: 132885018873 / NL93226479  -  FINAL Report
L=Low, H=High, C=Critical Abnormal, CL=Critical Low, CH=Critical High, *=Comment Distribution #: 660166786-35284145 

Result Report Produced by  AutoDist  On 10/17/2023 12:29 AM All Rights Reserved

Page 1 of 1 pages
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WOODNICK LAW, PLLC 
1747 E. Morten Avenue, Suite 205 
Phoenix, Arizona 85020 
Telephone: (602) 449-7980 
Facsimile: (602) 396-5850  
Office@WoodnickLaw.com 
 
Gregg R. Woodnick, #020736 
Isabel Ranney, #038564 
Attorney for Respondent 
 

IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF ARIZONA 
 

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF MARICOPA 
 

In Re the Matter of: 
 

  
 
  Petitioner, 

and 

CLAYTON ECHARD, 
     
                      Respondent, 

 Case No.:  FC2023-052114 
 

MOTION FOR SANCTIONS 
PURSUANT TO RULE 26 
 
 
(Assigned to The Honorable Julie Mata) 
 

 

 Respondent, CLAYTON ECHARD, by and through undersigned counsel and pursuant 

to Rule 26(b) and 26(c), Arizona Rules of Family Law Procedure (ARFLP), hereby filed his 

Motion for Sanctions against Petitioner,   for filing her Petition to Establish 

Paternity, Legal Decision-Making, Parenting Time, and Child Support, as well as all other 

subsequent filings by Petitioner.  

Petitioner filed the underlying action for an improper purpose without medical evidence 

to support her claim that she was pregnant and/or that she was pregnant by Respondent. 

Petitioner could not have become pregnant from the limited encounter the parties had and 

Clerk of the Superior Court
*** Electronically Filed ***

C. Brown, Deputy
1/3/2024 4:43:32 PM
Filing ID 17128207
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therefore premised this entire action on a fiction. Petitioner violated Rule 26(b)(1)-(3) in her 

Petition and subsequent filings. 

ARGUMENT 

1. This matter arises from the establishment petition filed August 1, 2023. Also 

pending before the Court are: Respondent’s Motion for Leave to Amend Respondent’s 

Response to Petition to Establish Paternity, Respondent’s Expedited Motion to Extend 

Dismissal Date on Inactive Calendar and Schedule an Evidentiary Hearing, Respondent’s 

Notice of Filing Affidavit of Non-Paternity, Petitioner’s Motion to Dismiss Petition to 

Establish Paternity, Legal Decision-Making, Parenting Time and Child Support with Prejudice, 

Petitioner’s Response to Expedited Motion and Respondent’s Response/Objection to 

Petitioner’s Motion to Dismiss Petition to Establish Paternity, Legal Decision-Making, 

Parenting Time and Child Support with Prejudice (filed consecutively). 

2. Rule 26(b) ARFLP provides, as relevant here, that “by signing a pleading, motion 

or other document, the attorney or party certifies to the best of the person’s knowledge, 

information, and belief formed after reasonable inquiry: (1) it is not being presented for any 

improper purposes, such as to harass [...] (2) the claims, defenses, and other legal contentions 

are warranted by existing law […] (3) the factual contentions have evidentiary support or, if 

specifically so identified, will likely have evidentiary support after a reasonable opportunity 

for further investigation or discovery […]”. 

3. Rule 26(c) provides: “if a pleading, motion, or other document is signed in 

violation of this rule, the court—on motion or on its own—may impose on the person who 

signed it, a represented party, or both, an appropriate sanction, which may include an order 
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to pay to the other party or parties the amount of the reasonable expenses incurred because of 

the filing of the document, including a reasonable attorney fee.”  

4. The requirements of Rule 9(c) have been met and a good faith consultation 

certificate is attached hereto. See also Respondent’s Motion for Leave to Amend Respondent’s 

Response to Petition to Establish Paternity; Respondent’s Response/Objection to Petitioner’s 

Motion to Dismiss Petition to Establish Paternity, Legal Decision-Making, Parenting Time and 

Child Support with Prejudice.  

A. Rule 26 sanctions are appropriate and warranted 

Petitioner’s behavior is the exact type of conduct that Rule 26 is intended to sanction. 

Petitioner was never pregnant by Respondent and filed this underlying action in bad faith and 

with the sole intent of coercing Respondent into having a relationship with her.  

1. Petitioner’s commencement of this action and original filing was made for an 

improper purpose under Rule 26(b)(1).  

Petitioner instigated this action when she filed her Petition to Establish Paternity, Legal 

Decision-Making, Parenting Time and Child Support on August 1, 2023, which alleges she had 

sexual intercourse with Respondent, became pregnant by him, and requested this Court enter 

Orders for Joint Legal Decision-Making, a parenting plan, and order Respondent to pay her 

Child Support. Petitioner’s Petition to Establish was filed for an improper purpose because 

Petitioner was never pregnant by Respondent and could not have become pregnant based on 

their one (1) encounter of oral sex on May 20, 2023. 

Despite no underlying Orders, Petitioner filed a Motion to Communicate on August 8, 

2023, and Motion to Compel on August 23, 2023. This Court denied both Motions. Respondent 
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filed a Response on August 21, 2023, denying that Petitioner could be pregnant by Respondent 

after one incident of oral sex on May 20, 2023. When Petitioner did not get what she wanted 

(including attempting to get Respondent to enter into a dating “contract”) she went to the media 

(Reddit, The Sun, People Magazine, Page Six, Medium.com, etc), the police, Respondent’s 

father, and even threatened self-harm. See Respondent’s Response/Objection to Petitioner’s 

Motion to Dismiss (filed 1/3/24). When the media turned on Petitioner and had doubts about 

the veracity of her pregnancy (as no verifiable medical evidence exists), Petitioner obtained an 

Order of Protection against Respondent based on “cyberbullying.” (Exhibit 1).  

Respondent obtained an Injunction of Harassment against Petitioner based on the receipt 

of 500+ harassing messages in (CV2023-05392). During the proceedings, on November 2, 

2023,  Petitioner wore a fake stomach (“moon bump”) to appear pregnant and claimed, with no 

scientific support, that she was 24 weeks pregnant with Respondent’s twins and due on 

February 14, 2024 See Respondent’s Response/Objection to Petitioner’s Motion to Dismiss 

(filed 1/3/24); see also FTR for hearing on 11/2/23.  Petitioner then sought to have this Court 

enter Orders against Respondent despite no verifiable proof Petitioner was pregnant and no 

child subject to this Court’s jurisdiction (with respect to entering parenting-related Orders) by 

filing an Application and Affidavit for Entry of Default on August 23, 2023.  

Despite providing no verifiable medical evidence that she was pregnant or that she was 

pregnant by him (only positive HCG tests and fabricated sonograms), Petitioner sought to force 

Respondent to communicate with her and threatened to go to the media if he did not comply. 

Notably, in her Motion to Communicate, Petitioner requested “that Respondent […] is ordered 

to communicate with Petitioner […] The Respondent was The Bachelor on ABC and the 
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Petitioner knows it would be in his best interests to keep the details of this case out of the public 

eye.” See Petitioner’s Motion to Communicate filed August 8, 2023.  

Also, in her Motion to Compel (filed August 23, 2023), Petitioner admitted she “had 

requested [Respondent agree to] a one to two week trial relationship” prior to filing her 

underlying Petition and asked this Court to hold Respondent in contempt of Court for not 

talking to her. Petitioner’s own words prove that she instigated this entire action (including 

fabricating a pregnancy) to coerce Respondent into talking to and dating her.  

2. Petitioner’s Motion to Dismiss is unsupported by existing law under Rule 26(b)(2).  

Jurisdiction was established at the time of Petitioner’s initial filing, which Petitioner 

continued to avail herself of through each additional filing made in the course of this matter. 

Ostensibly fearing that she would be held accountable for her disturbing and unsettling 

behavior, Petitioner recently filed a (contested) Motion to Dismiss on December 28, 2023 the 

entire action alleging lack of subject matter jurisdiction. 

As discussed more fully in the Response to that Motion, Arizona law is crystal clear that 

jurisdiction attaches at the time the action is filed. Subsequent events or acts by the parties 

cannot deprive the court of jurisdiction once attached, even if those events would have defeated 

jurisdiction if occurring before the action was filed (i.e., Petitioner claimed at the time of filing 

that she was pregnant with Respondent’s children at the time of filing, so the fact that she is 

not currently pregnant does not deprive the court of jurisdiction). Statutory jurisdiction does 

not automatically divest unless the statutes expressly state whether and to what extent 

divestiture occurs. Title 25 contains no such provision, and the Fry case cited in Respondent’s 
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January 3, 2024 Response to the Motion to Dismiss is highly analogous to the current 

circumstances.  

For purposes of Rule 26(b)(2), Petitioner’s claim is not warranted by existing law and 

does not attempt to make a non-frivolous argument for modifying the law or establishing new 

law. Simply put, Petitioner misstates the law of subject matter jurisdiction despite clearly 

contrary precedent in an opaque attempt to avoid the consequences of her improper filings. 

This is sanctionable. 

3. Petitioner’s factual contentions are not supported by evidence and did not become 

supported by evidence after investigation and discovery under Rule 26(b)(3).  

The Petition lacks evidentiary support beyond Petitioner’s assertions that she was 

pregnant with Respondent’s children. Admittedly, any establishment petition made prior to the 

birth of the child is necessarily lacking evidentiary support, but Title 25 and Rule 26 permit 

such filings because those claims, if true, will have evidentiary support after a reasonable 

opportunity for further investigation or discovery. In this case, however, Petitioner’s claims 

were never true and could not be true because the parties did not have sexual intercourse 

requisite to conception. In matters where pregnancy and paternity are contested, Title 25 

contemplates subsequent testing—either before or after the birth of the child—to establish the 

necessary factual support. 

Since filing, Petitioner has provided no Rule 49 disclosure (and seeks to avoid a 

deposition) that would support her claim that she was pregnant by Respondent (no sonogram 

reports, fetal anatomy scans, reports of weekly ultrasounds, etc). She has participated in fetal 

DNA tests, none of which have conclusively established the existence of a pregnancy or 
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Respondent’s paternity. At least two (2) fetal DNA tests have come back with “little to no fetal 

DNA,” indicating that not only was Petitioner not pregnant by Respondent, but she was not 

pregnant at all. Petitioner carefully alleges in her Motion to Dismiss that she is “no longer 

pregnant” but refuses to provide evidence of the termination or miscarriage of the pregnancy 

(e.g., fetal death certificates). It is critical for this Court to take evidence and investigate 

whether Petitioner was ever pregnant in the first instance, both for purposes of declaring non-

paternity and for determining the appropriateness of Rule 26(b)(3) sanctions.  

4. Rule 26(c)(1) contemplates sanctions by motion or on the court’s own impetus.  

Even if Respondent did not request sanctions—which he previously did and now 

reiterates by separate Motion to address any proffered procedural irregularity—this Court may 

investigate and impose sanctions on its own motion. Rule 26 requires signatures on pleadings 

and filings and attaches substantial meaning to those signatures: a person filing a document 

certifies to the Court that it is being presented for a proper purpose and is supported by law and 

evidence. The Rule requires parties and attorneys to conduct at least a reasonable inquiry before 

signing filings, and sanctions exist to ensure compliance, vindicate misuse of the Court’s 

resources and authority, and to make responding parties whole for frivolous lawsuits. 

Respondent asserts that the circumstances of this case are so egregious that this Court ought to 

impose sanctions on its own, even if for no other reason than to deter specific and general abuse 

of process.  

/// 

/// 
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CONCLUSION 

 Pursuant to the above and consistent with Rule 26(b) and (c), ARFLP, this Court 

should impose appropriate sanctions against Petitioner, including but not limited to awarding 

Respondent his reasonable attorney’s fees and costs incurred.  

 
RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 3rd day of January, 2024. 

       WOODNICK LAW, PLLC   

        
             
       Gregg R. Woodnick 

Isabel Ranney  
       Attorneys for Respondent 
ORIGINAL of the foregoing e-filed 
 this 3rd day of January, 2024 with: 
 
Clerk of Court 
Maricopa County Superior Court 
 
COPY of the foregoing document 
delivered/emailed this 3rd day of January, 2024, to: 
 
The Honorable Julie Mata   
Maricopa County Superior Court  
 
Alexis Lindvall 
MODERN LAW  
1744 S. Val Vista Drive, Suite 205 
Mesa, Arizona 85204 
Alexis.lindvall@mymodernlaw.com 
Attorney for Petitioner  
 
By: /s/ MB   
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GOOD FAITH CONSULTATION CERTIFICATE 

In conformance with Rule 9(C), Arizona Rules of Family Law Procedure, counsel 

undersigned hereby certifies that Respondent, Clayton Echard, satisfied his Rule 9(c) 

obligation when he attempted to meet and confer with Petitioner,   on August 

16, 2023 at 1:48 p.m. and 2:50 p.m. (text messages below) as well as in all of his subsequent 

filings and communications to Petitioner that indicated he could not be the father of her 

alleged twin fetuses (including but not limited to in Respondent’s Injunction Against 

Harassment proceedings (CV2023-052952) against Petitioner on October 24, 2023 and 

November 2, 2023). See also Respondent’s Motion for Leave to Amend Respondent’s 

Response to Petition to Establish Paternity; Respondent’s Response/Objection to 

Petitioner’s Motion to Dismiss Petition to Establish Paternity, Legal Decision-Making, 

Parenting Time and Child Support with Prejudice. Additionally, undersigned met and 

conferred with Petitioner’s counsel, Alexis Lindvall (who already has filed to withdraw 

from representing the Petitioner), over the phone on December 27, 2023.  

       WOODNICK LAW, PLLC 
  
        
              

      Gregg R. Woodnick 
       Attorneys for Respondent 
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EXHIBIT “1” 
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Conception and implantation: A
timeline
Without getting all “birds and the bees” about it, there are several steps that go on in

your body to create new life. A quick look at these different phases will help to

better understand when pregnancy actually happens and when it can be detected.

Ovulation: About 2 weeks before your period
This is your window to become pregnant. About two weeks after your last period

(smack in the middle of a “typical” 28-day cycle) is when you ovulate. That means

your ovary has released an egg and it’s hanging around in your fallopian tube

waiting for sperm. You’ll ovulate for about 12 to 24 hours. If the egg isn’t fertilized,

it’ll be reabsorbed by your body.

Conception: About 24 hours after unprotected
sex
If you have unprotected intercourse during your ovulation window, sperm start

swimming all fast and furious to reach the egg. Conception happens if a sperm

wriggles its way in to fertilize the egg.

Implantation: About 6 days after unprotected
sex
After an egg is fertilized, it attaches itself to the lining of your uterus. That triggers a

placenta to begin to form.

Pregnancy hormones release: About 11 days
f   Ad
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If your period is less-than-punctual, Dr. Robinson Tidmore suggests taking a home

pregnancy test two weeks after having unprotected sex is a good rule of thumb.

And, yes, you can trust that the results on the stick are for real.

“In general, home pregnancy tests are sensitive and accurate,” Dr. Robinson

Tidmore says. “Some of the tests on the market can detect pregnancy even before

a missed period, but that effectiveness can vary. You can be confident, though, that

if your period is usually regular and you’re a day or two late for your period, the

results from a home-based test will be accurate.”

Blood tests
In some cases, a healthcare provider may order a blood test to determine if you’re

pregnant. This is most often done for people who are undergoing fertility

treatments or if, say, you’re about to have surgery or have medical tests performed

where knowing whether you’re pregnant is important.

A doctor’s blood test can detect pregnancy just a few days earlier than a home test

— usually around 10 days after you ovulate.

Early pregnancy symptoms
If your cycle doesn’t always match up to the calendar and you haven’t been actively

testing yourself for pregnancy, you may notice some changes that can be your first

clue that you may be pregnant.

Pro tip: No two pregnancies will look and feel the same. If you’re relying on

symptoms alone to determine whether you may be pregnant, you’ll want to be extra

vigilant about checking in on yourself and assessing any changes, Dr. Robinson

Tidmore advises.
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ectopic (tubal) pregnancy. That happens when a fertilized egg implants in a

fallopian tube instead of your uterus. This can be very dangerous.

Talking to a doctor
So, you just found out you’re pregnant … now what?

One of your first calls should be to a doctor’s office, but don’t expect that they’ll

need to see you right away.

“Some people think that if they’ve had a positive home pregnancy test, we’ll need

them to come to the office and confirm they’re pregnant,” Dr. Robinson Tidmore

says. “Because home tests are so accurate, most healthcare providers will accept

that positive test as confirmation of your pregnancy and will look to schedule you

several weeks later.”

At that first prenatal appointment, expect that your healthcare provider will perform

tests, like an ultrasound, to confirm your pregnancy is progressing normally.

Before that first appointment, however, there are a few things you can do to get your

pregnancy starting off healthy:

Discuss any medications you’re taking with your healthcare provider to confirm

whether they’re safe during pregnancy.

Start taking prenatal vitamins.

Don’t smoke or drink alcohol.

Get plenty of sleep.

Drink plenty of water and follow a healthy diet.

Keep your body moving through regular exercise.
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